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COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Hope Wasz ("Wasz" or "Relator"), by and through the undersigned

attorneys, on behalf of the United States of America and the State of Illinois,

complains of Defendant Presence Health Network, Inc. ("Presence Health" or

"Defendant") as follows:

STATEMENT OT'THE CASE

1. Defendant has submitted false and fraudulent claims to the United

States and the State of Illinois in order to obtain reimbursement from Medicare

and Illinois Medicaid for in-patient hospital medications that are: (a) disbursed

and debited to Medicare and Illinois Medicaid beneficiaries' patient accounts;

and (b) not administered to the patient, and returned unused to Defendant's

pharmacy. By failing to credit beneficiaries' accounts for medication that is

disbursed but not administered to the beneficiaries, Defendant wrongfully

retains overpayments for these medications that are statutorily owed to the

United States and the State of Illinois.

2. In many cases, medications that are not administered to a

beneficiary after being disbursed and debited to the beneficiary are returned to

Defendant's pharmacy, where the medication is then disbursed to a second

patient-for a second charge. Some of these second charges inure to Medicare

andf or Illinois Medicaid beneficiaries, resulting in the United States and the

State of Illinois paying two separate charges for the same dose of medication.

3. The Relator, Hope Wasz, seeks to recover on behalf of the United

States and the State of Illinois treble damages and civil penalties arising from

-2-

Case: 1:17-cv-02192 Document #: 1 Filed: 03/21/17 Page 2 of 36 PageID #:2



false claims, and the creation of false records and statements made or caused to

be made and submitted directly or indirectly by the defendant, to the United

States Government and the State of Illinois, all in violation of the Federal False

ClaimsAct,3l U.S.C. SS 3729 -32, and the Illinois False Claims Act,74Olrr.

Corrap. Sret. 17513.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of the False

Claims Act claims pursuant to 31 U.S.C. S 3732(a), which specifically confers

jurisdiction on this Court for actions brought pursuant to SS 3729 and 3730 of

Title 31; pursuant to 28 U.S.C. S 1331, which confers federal subject matter

jurisdiction for federal questions; and pursuant to 28 U.S.C. S 1345, which

confers federal subject matter jurisdiction over actions where the United States

is plaintiff.

5. This Court also has supplemental jurisdiction over Wasz's state law

claim under 31 U.S.C. S 3732(b) and 28 U.S.C. S 1367(a) because Wasz's state

law claim arises from the same transactions and occurrences as her action under

31 U.S.C. S 3730.

6. Contemporaneous with the filing of this Complaint, Wasz provided

the Attorneys General of the United States and the State of Illinois a statement

of material evidence and information regarding the allegations herein of which

Wasz is aware, together with a copy of the Complaint, in accordance with the

provisions of 31 U.S.C. S 373O(bX2).
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7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the defendant herein

pursuant to 31 U.S.C. $ 3732(a) because it submitted, or caused to be submitted,

false claims directly or indirectly to the United States Government; and because

it has made, used, or submitted, or caused to be made, used, or submitted false

or fraudulent records in this District to get false claims paid or approved. Venue

is proper in this District pursuant to 31 U.S.C. g 3732(a), and 23 U.S.C. SS

139 1(b) and 139 1(c) because the defendant can be found and transacts business

that is the subject matter of this lawsuit in the Northern District of lllinois.

8. This suit is not based upon the public disclosure of allegations or

transactions in a criminal, civil or administrative hearing, in a congressional,

administrative, or Government Accounting Office report, hearing, audit, or

investigation, or from the news media, and to the extent that some allegations or

transactions alleged herein have been publicly disclosed, Wasz is an "original

source" of the same within the meaning of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C.

$ 3730(e)(4)(A), and voluntarily disclosed such information to the government

before filing this action. Wasz gained direct and independent knowledge of the

frauds alleged herein through her observations while an employee at Presence

Health.

PARTIES

The Plaintiff-Relator

9. This action is brought by Relator Hope Wasz on her own behalf and

on behalf of the united States of America and the State of lllinois.
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10. Relator Wasz is a citizen of lllinois. Relator Wasz holds a

pharmacist's license issued by the State of Illinois, and has worked as a

pharmacist at hospitals in Illinois for over thirty years.

1 1. Relator began working for defendant's predecessor, Provena-

Resurrection Health Network, as a contract employee on or about July 21,2OO8,

and became a full-time employee of Presence Health on or about June 26,2OO9.

At all relevant times, Relator Wasz worked as a pharmacist at Presence Saint

Joseph Hospital in Elgin, Illinois. Relator resigned from Presence Health on or

about February 26, 2016.

The Defendants

12. Defendant Presence Health Network, Inc. at all relevant times has

been registered as an Illinois corporation.

13. Presence Health operates the following eleven hospitals in Illinois:

a. Presence Covenant Medical Center, 1400 West Park Street,

Urbana, Illinois;

b. Presence Holy Family Medical Center, 10O North River Road,

Des Plaines, Illinois;

c. Presence Mercy Medical Center, 1325 North Highland Avenue,

Aurora, Illinois;

d. Presence Resurrection Medical Center, 7435 West Talcott

Avenue, Chicago, Illinois;

e. Presence Saint Francis Hospital, 355 Ridge Avenue,

Evanston, Illinois;
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Presence Saint Joseph Hospital, 29OO North Lake Shore Drive,

Chicago, Illinois;

Presence Saint Joseph Hospital, 77 North Airlite Street, Elgin,

Illinois;

Presence Saint Joseph Medical Center, 333 North Madison

Street, Joliet, Illinois;

i. Presence saints Mary and Elizabeth Medical center, 2283

West Division Street, Chicago, Illinois;

j. Presence St. Mary's Hospital, 500 West Court Street,

Kankakee, Illinois;

k. Presence United Samaritans Medical Center, Sl2 North Logan

Avenue, Danville, Illinois.

LEGAL AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND

The False Claims Act

f.

ob.

h.

A.

t4.

part, that:

(a)

congress enacted the False claims Act which provides, in pertinent

Any person who (1) knowingly presents, or causes to be presented,
to an officer or employee of the United States Government . . . a false
or fraudulent claim for payment or approval; (2) knowingly makes,
ttses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or statement to
get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved by the Government
. . . is liable to the United states Government for a civil penalty of
not less than [$5,500] and not more than [$ 1 1,000] plus three times
the amount of damages which the Government sustains....

For purposes of this section, the terms "knowing" and "knowingly',
mean that a person, with respect to information (1) has actual
knowledge of the information; (2) acts in deliberate ignorance of the
truth or falsity of the information; or (3) acts in reckless disregard of

(b)
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the truth or falsity of the information, and no proof of specific intent
to defraud is required.

31 U.S.C. S s729.

15. False certifications constitute false claims under the False Claims

Act, as do billing for services that are not "reasonable and necessary for the

diagnosis and treatment of illness or inju4/' or for non-reimbursable services.

16. It is a false claim to knowingly make, rlse, or cause to be made or

used, a false record or statement material to an obligation to pay or transmit

money or properff to the Government. 31 U.S.C. g 3729(aX1XG).

17. It is a false claim to knowingly conceal or improperly avoid or

decrease an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the government.

31 U.S.C. g 372e(axlXG).

B. The Medicare Program

18. In 1965, Congress enacted Title XVIII of the Social Security Act,

known as the Medicare program, to pay for the costs of certain healthcare

services. See 42 U.S.C. SS 1395 et seq. The Medicare Program is a federal health

insurance program for older Americans and persons with disabilities. Individuals

who are insured by Medicare are known as beneficiaries. Medicare is funded by

the federal government and administered by the federal Centers for Medicare

and Medicaid Services ("CMS"), which is a division of the U.S. Department of

Health and Human Services ("HHS").

19. The Medicare program is comprised of several parts. Health care

services and payment under Part A of the Medicare program are the subjects of
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this case. Part A of Medicare is a federally subsidized, voluntary insurance

program that covers inpatient hospital services for a statutory period of days. 42

u.s.c. s 13esd.

20. It is unlawful for any person, organization, agency, or entity to

present a claim for payment under Medicare for a medical item or service that

was not provided as claimed. 42 U.S.C. g l32Oa-7a(a)(1)(A).

C. Medicare Providers' Obligation To Report And Return Overpayments

2I. An overpayment is any funds that a provider has received or retained

from Medicare to which the provider, after applicable reconciliation, is not

entitled. 42 U.S.C. g 1320a-7k(dX4XB); a2 C.F.R. S 401.303.

22. If a provider receives an overpayment, then the provider is required

to return the overpayment by the later of: (a) 60 days after the date on which the

overpayment was identified; or (b) the date any corresponding cost report is due,

if applicable. 42 U.S.C. S 132o-7k(dx1)-(2); a2 C.F.R. S 401.30s(a)-(b).

23. An overpayment is "identified" when the provider has, or should

have through the exercise of reasonable diligence, determined that the provider

has received an overpayment and quantified the amount of overpayment. A

provider should have determined that it received an overpayment and quantified

the amount of the overpayment if the person fails to exercise reasonable diligence

and the provider in fact received an overpayment. 42 c.F.R.S 401.30s(a)(2).

24. A provider must use an applicable claims adjustment, credit

balance, self-reported refund, or other process set forth by an applicable

Medicare contractor to report an overpayment.42 c.F.R.S 401.3o5(dx1).
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25. An overpayment must be reported and returned if the provider

identifies the overpayment within six years of the date the overpayment was

received. 42 C.F.R. S 401.305(0.

26. Any overpayment retained by a provider after the deadline for

reporting and returning the overpayment is an "obligation" for purposes of the

False Claims Act. 42 U.S.C. S 1320-7k(d)(3); 42 C.F.R. S 401.305(e).

C. The Medicaid Program

27. The Medicaid Program was established in 1965 as a joint federal and

state program to provide financial assistance to individuals with low incomes to

enable them to receive medical care. Under Medicaid, each state establishes its

own eligibility standards, benefits packages, payment rates and program

administration in accordance with certain federal statutory and regulatory

requirements. The state pays the health care providers for services rendered to

Medicaid recipients, with the state obtaining the federal share of the Medicaid

payment from accounts that draw on the United States Treasury. See 42 C.F.R.

ss 430.0-430.30.

28. In Illinois, Medicaid is administered at the state level by the

Department of Healthcare and Family Services. See 305 Ill. Corrap. Srar. 512-

t2(3r'.

D. Illinois Medicaid Providers' Obligation
To Report And Return Overpayments.

29. Under Illinois's Medicaid statute, an "overpayment" is "any funds

that a person receives or retains from the medical assistance program to which
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the person, after applicable reconciliation, is not entitled under this Code." 305

Irr,. Covrp. Srat. 5 I I2-4.25(E-5)(1Xb).

I 30. If a person has received an overpayment, the person shall: (a) report

and return the overpayment to the Illinois Department of Healthcare and Family

Services (the "Department"); and (b) notify the Department in writing of the

reason for the overpayment. 3O5 Ilr,. Coup. Srar. 5lI2-4.25(E-5)(6)(a).

31. The overpayment must be reported and returned by the later of: (a)

60 days after the date on which the overpayment was identified; or (b) the date

any corresponding cost report is due. 305 Ill. Covrp. Srar. 5ll2-4.25(E-5X6Xb).

32. If a person "knows of an overpayment and does not report and return

the overpayment to the Department in accordance" with the procedure set forth

above, that person is subject to civil penalties. 305 Ill. Corrap. Srer. 5lt2-4.25(E-

sx2xl).

33. "Knowing$' means that a person, with respect to information: (a)

has actual knowledge of the information; (b) acts in deliberate ignorance of the

truth or falsity of the information; or (c) acts in reckless disregard of the truth or

falsity of the information. No proof of specific intent to defraud is required. 305

Irr. Covrp. Srar. 5 I t2-4.25(E-5)(1)(a).

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Background On Medication Dispensing At Presence Health Hospitals

34. Hospital pharmacies employ several methods for allotting and

disbursing medications to patients. Several of these methods result in systematic
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overpayments for medications when the hospital fails to issue a credit for

medications not taken.

35. Medication prescribers (such as nurses) place orders for patient

medications into the hospital pharmacy's computer software system.

36. Presence Health uses a computer software system developed by

Medical Information Technologr, Inc. ("Meditech").

37. Orders for patient medications are reviewed by a pharmacist, who

determines whether the medication will be obtained from the hospital's main

pharmacy or from an Automated Dispensing Cabinet ('ADC").

The Main Pharmacy And Patient Bins

38. When a prescriber places an order with the main pharmacy, a

pharmacist prints out an identification label to be placed on the medication's

packaging. The printing of an identification label creates a charge to the patient's

account for the medication.

39. After the medication is labeled, it is placed in a bin in the patient's

hospital unit.

40. Each individual hospital unit contains a bin that stores medications

for the patients within that hospital unit.

41. Every evening, a technician compiles a "fill-list" for medications.

This is a list of medications to be ordered from the main pharmacy and placed

in a patient's assigned bin.

42. After the "fill-list" is compiled, a technician delivers the medications

to the patient bins in the early afternoon of the following day.
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Unused Medications Are Returned To The Pharmacy

43. When technicians make their delivery rounds, they collect unused

medications and place them in a bucket.

44. If possible, the identification label is removed from the unused

medication and shredded.

45. If it is not possible to remove the identification label from the

medication's packaging, then a technician will use a permanent marker to black-

out any Personally Identifiable Information ('PII") on the label.

46. After the identification label is removed, the medication is placed

back in stock in the pharmacy.

Failure To Issue Credits Or Refunds f'or
Returned Medications Result In Overpayments

47. Presence Health does not maintain a policy that provides for the

issuance of credits or refunds for unused medications that are returned to the

pharmacy.

48. As a result, Presence Health routinely fails to issue credits or

refunds for unused medications that are returned to the pharmacy.

49. Billing Medicare or Illinois Medicaid for an unused medication that

is returned to the pharmacy, but is not credited or refunded, results in an

overpayment.

50. By failing to issue credits or refunds for unused medications that

are returned to the pharmacy, Presence Health fails to report and return

overpayments.

Bulk Medications Result In Overpayments
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51. Bulk medications are medications that contain more than one dose

per medication package, such as inhalers.

52. Some bulk medications are never used by the patient, and are

returned to the main pharmacy. The returned item is recycled to the pharmacy

main stock and often used for another patient.

53. Because Presence Health bills Medicare or Illinois Medicaid for a

medication which the beneficiary does not use, returned bulk medications are

an overpayment.

54. Tlpically, Presence Health hospital pharmacies do not issue a credit

or refund for returned bulk medications.

55. Accordingly, Presence Health fails to report and return

overpayments resulting from returned bulk medications.

56. Presence Health's failure to report and return overpayments

resulting from returned bulk medications results in double-billing when a

returned bulk medication is subsequently administered to a Medicare or Illinois

Medicaid beneficiary.

Alternative Dosing Results In Overpayments

57. Alternative dosing occurs when a medication has already been

delivered to a patient's bin, and hospital staff decide to give the medication by

an alternative route.

58. For example, if a patient is unable to take an oral medication which

has already been delivered to the patient's bin, hospital staff will make an
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additional order for the same medication to be taken intravenously,

intramuscularly, subcutaneously, or rectally.

59. Another form of alternative dosing occurs when a patient is unable

to take a solid form of a medication, and instead must take a liquid form of the

medication.

60. In alternative dosing situations, the unused original medication in

the patient's bin is returned to the hospital's pharmacy.

61. Because Presence Health bills Medicare or Illinois Medicaid for the

unused original medication, alternative dosing results in an overpayment.

62. Presence Health hospital pharmacies fail to issue a credit or refund

to a patient's account for returned medications resulting from an alternative

dosing situation.

63. Accordingly, Presence Health fails to report and return

overpayments resulting from alternative dosing.

64. Presence Health's failure to report and return overpayments

resulting from alternative dosing results in double-billing when the returned

unused original medication is subsequently administered to a Medicare or

Illinois Medicaid beneficiary.

"As Needed" Medications Result In Overpayments

65. Some medications are administered to a patient "as needed," as

opposed to a set dosing schedule.

66. When a medication is to be administered "as needed," a pharmacist

will determine the number of doses to be delivered from the main pharmacy. This
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number of doses will not exceed the number of doses that could be administered

in a 24-hour period.

67. Because the medication is administered "as needed," rather than in

predetermined amounts at predetermined intervals, not every dose of the

medication is administered to the patient.

68. These unused doses are returned to the hospital pharmacy.

69. Because Presence Health bi1ls Medicare or Illinois Medicaid for the

unused doses that are returned to the hospital pharmacy, returned "as needed"

medications result in an overpayment.

70. Presence Health hospital pharmacies fail to issue a credit or refund

to a patient's account for returned doses of "as needed" medications.

7l. Accordingly, Presence Health fails to report and return

overpayments resulting from returned doses of "as needed" medications.

72. Presence Health's failure to report and return overpayments

resulting from returned doses of "as needed" medications results in double-

billing when a returned unused dose of "as needed" medication is subsequently

administered to a Medicare or Illinois Medicaid beneficiary.

73. For example, on January 8, 2016, at 12:22 &.ffi., four doses of

Xopenex were dispensed and debited to a Medicare beneficiary at Saint Joseph

Hospital, to be administered "as needed."

74. The charge per dose for the Xopenex medication was $zg.s+.

75. The beneficiary was administered one dose of the Xopenex

medication at 1:01 a.m. on Janualy 8, 2016.
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76. The beneficiary was not administered the remaining three doses of

Xopenex and no credit for those doses was provided, resulting in an overpayment

to Medicare in the amount of $SO.SZ.

"Missing DosesD Result In Overpayments

77. A "missing dose" occurs when a nurse is unable to find a medication

that has been delivered to a patient's bin. In this situation, the nurse places

another order for the medication with the main pharmacy.

78. Because the medication has already been charged to the patient's

account when it was originally ordered from the pharmacy and delivered to the

patient's bin, it should not be charged a second time to replace the "missing

dose."

79. However, a pharmacist or technician will often charge the patient's

account a second time when the nurse places an order to replace the "missing

dose."

80. Hence, Presence Health charges the patient multiple times for the

same dose of medication. Because Presence Health bills Medicare or Illinois

Medicaid multiple times for the same dose of medication, "missing doses" result

in an overpayment.

81. Presence Health fails to issue a credit or refund to a patient's

account for "missing doses."

82. Accordingly, Presence Health fails to

overpayments resulting from "missing doses."

-t6
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83. Presence Health's failure to report and return overpayments

resulting from "missing doses" results in double-billing when a returned "missing

dose" is subsequently administered to a Medicare or Illinois Medicaid beneficiary.

84. For example, on February 22, 2016, at 1:32 p.m., three doses of

Cefazolin medication were dispensed and debited to a Medicare beneficiary at

Saint Joseph Hospital, and scheduled to be administered at 6:00 p.m. February

22,2:OO a.m. February 23, and 10:00 a.m. February 23.

85. The charge per dose of Cefazolin was $ 14.34.

86. on February 23, 2016, at 12:45 a.m., a fourth dose was debited

because one of the previously dispensed doses had gone missing.

87. A total of four doses were debited to the beneficiary, for a total of

$SZ.SO. However, only three doses were administered to the beneficiary and no

credit was issued for the missing fourth dose, resulting in an overpayment in the

amount of $14.34.

(Patient Refusals" Result In Overpayments

88. Patients are allowed to refuse taking a medication. "Patient refusal"

occurs when a patient refuses to take a medication.

89. Medications that a patient refuses to take are returned to the main

pharmacy.

90. Because Presence Health bills Medicare or Illinois Medicaid for

medications that beneficiaries refuse and that are returned to the pharmacy,

"patient refusals" result in an overpayment.
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91. Presence Health hospitals fail to issue a credit to a patient's

accounts for a medication that is returned to the pharmacy after the patient

refuses to take it.

92. Accordingly, Presence Health fails to report and return

overpayments resulting from "patient refusals."

93. Presence Health's failure to report and return overpayments

resulting from "patient refusals" results in double-billing when the returned

"refused" medication is subsequently administered to a Medicare or Illinois

Medicaid beneficiary.

94. For example, on Febrrrary 19, 2016, at 8:11 a.m., a dose of Astelin

Nasal Spray was dispensed and debited to a Medicare beneficiary at Saint Joseph

Hospital, and was scheduled to be administered at 9:OO a.m. that same day.

95. The charge per dose of the Astelin Nasal Spray was $3+3.1O.

96. At 9:00 a.m. on February 19,2016, the dose was not administered

because the beneficiary refused the medication. The beneficiary again refused to

take the medication at 9:00 a.m. on February 20,2Ot6.

97. The Astelin Nasal Spray was not administered to the beneficiary,

and no credit for it was provided, resulting in an overpayment to Medicare in the

amount of $343.10.

98. Beginning on February 20, 2016, 17 doses of SandoStatin were

dispenses and debited for an Illinois Medicaid beneficiary at Saint Joseph

Hospital.

99. The charge per dose of SandoStatin was $ 14.28.
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100. On February 23, 2016, at 4:59 p.m. the beneficiary refused a dose

of SandoStatin.

101. This dose of Sandostatin was not administered to the beneficiary,

and no credit for it was provided, resulting in an overpayment to Illinois Medicaid

in the amount of $14.28.

'Held Medications" Result In Overpayments

lO2. Oftentimes, medications are scheduled for administration to the

patient only if certain criteria are met. For example, a medication may be

scheduled to be administered to a patient only if the patient's blood pressure is

below a certain amount.

103. In situations where a patient does not meet the criteria for a

medication's administration, the medication will be withheld from the patient,

resulting in a "held medication."

lO4. A "he1d medication" is eventually returned to the hospital pharmacy.

1O5. Because Presence Health bills Medicare or Illinois Medicaid for a

"held medication" that is not used by the beneficiary and is returned to the

pharmacy, a "held medication" results in an overpayment.

106. Presence Health hospitals fail to issue a credit to a patient's account

when a "held medication" is returned to the hospital pharmacy.

IO7. Accordingly, Presence Health fails to report and return

overpayments resulting from "held medications."

108. Presence Health's failure to report and return overpayments

resulting from "held medications" results in double-billing when a returned "held
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medication" is subsequently administered to a Medicare or Illinois Medicaid

beneficiary.

109. For example, on January 6,2016, at 1:17 p.m., two doses of venofer

medication were dispensed and debited to a Medicare beneficiary at Saint Joseph

Hospital, and scheduled to be administered at 1:15 p.m. onJanuary 6,2016,

and 9:00 a.m. on January 7, 2016.

110. The charger per dose for the Venofer medication was $SgS. t+.

111. The dose scheduled to be administered to the beneficiary at 9:00

a.m. on January 7, 2016, was held.

II2. The held dose of Venofer medication was not administered to the

beneficiary, and no credit for the dose was provided, resulting in an overpayment

to Medicare in the amount of $SgS. t+.

1 13. On February 7, 2016, an Advair inhalation disk was dispensed and

debited for an lllinois Medicaid beneficiary at Saint Joseph Hospital, and

scheduled to be administered at 8:30 a.m. on February T, 2016.

ll4. The charge for the inhalation disk was 9407.39.

115. The dose of the inhalation disk that was scheduled to be

administered to the beneficiary at 8:30 a.m. on February T, 2016, was held

because the beneficiary was on a ventilator.

116. The held dose of the Advair inhalation disk was not administered to

the beneficiary, and no credit for the disk was provided, resulting in an

overpayment to Illinois Medicaid of $407.88.
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Medications Discontinued Result in Overpayments

Il7. The orders for some mediations are discontinued.

118. Doses that have not been administered to patients after an order

has been discontinued are returned to the pharmacy.

119. No credit is issued for such returned medications, resulting in an

overpayment.

l2O. For example, the medication Cubicin was ordered for a Medicare

patient, with a start date of February 14,2106 at 2:00 p.m. Two doses were billed

for February 14,2ot6 at 2:oo p.m. and February ls,2016 and February 15,

2016 at 2:OO p.m. The second dos was not given and the order was discontinued

on February 15, 2OL6 at2:27 p.m. This resulted in an overpayment of $2,525.gg.

Patient Discharges And'Future Doses', Result In overpayments

I2l. Some medications are scheduled to be administered at certain times

during the day.

122. When a patient is discharged, doses scheduled to be administered

in the future are returned to the pharmacy and automatically credited based on

when the discharge is finalized.

123. As an illustratiofl, o patient is prescribed a medication that is

scheduled to be administered at 0600, 1400, and 22OO. During the morning

rounds, hospital staff decide to discharge the patient. If a nurs e frnalizes the

discharge prior to 1400, then the pharmacy computer issues a credit to the

patient's account for the dose scheduled for administration at 14OO.
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124. If the nurse finalizes the discharge at L4OI, however, the computer

does not automatically issue a credit to the patient's account for the dose

scheduled for administration at 1400.

125. Because Presence Health bills Medicare or Illinois Medicaid for the

dose scheduled for administration at 14OO but not used by the beneficiary

because the beneficiary is discharged prior to 1400, this "future dose" results in

an overpayment.

126. Presence Health hospitals fail to issue a credit to a patient's account

for a medication that is scheduled to be administered after a patient is

discharged and not automatically credited to the patient's account by the

pharmacy computer system.

I27. Accordingly, Presence Health fails to report and return

overpayments resulting from "future doses."

128. Presence Health's failure to report and return overpayments

resulting from "future doses" results in double-billing when an unused "future

dose" is subsequently administered to a Medicare or Illinois Medicaid beneficiary.

r29. For example, on February 17,2016, four doses of Mucomyst

inhalant were dispensed and debited for a Medicare and Illinois Medicaid

beneficiary. The four doses were scheduled to be administered on: (a) February

18,2016, at 3:30 p.m.; (b) February 18,2016, at 9:30 p.m.; (c) February 19,

2016, at 3:30 a.m.; and (d) February 19,2016, at 9:30 a.m.

13O. The charge per dose of Mucomyst was $+ t.g+.
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131. None of the four doses were administered to the beneficiary because

the beneficiary was discharged before the scheduled administration of the doses.

I32. The beneficiary received an auto-credit for three of the four doses.

There was no auto-credit for the dose scheduled for 3:3O p.m. on February 18,

2016, because the dose order was not discontinued until 4:15 p.m. on February

18.

133. No credit for this dose was provided, resulting in an overpayment to

Medicare and Illinois Medicaid in the amount of $+t.g+.

Automated Dispensing Cabinets

134. Some medications issued from the hospital pharmacy are stored in

Automated Dispensing Cabinets ("ADCs"). ADCs function similarly to vending

machines.

135. Presence Health uses ADCs manufactured by Cardinal Health.

These ADCs are called $rxis Med Stations ("$rxis,,).

136. Each $rxis has a unique name corresponding to its location within

the hospital.

I37. When a prescriber places an order for a medication into the

hospital's computer system, and the pharmacist determines that the medication

is stored in a $rxis located in the same hospital unit as the patient, the order is

verified.

138. After the order is verified, the prescriber receives authorization to

remove the medication from the $rxis. When the prescriber inputs that

-23-

Case: 1:17-cv-02192 Document #: 1 Filed: 03/21/17 Page 23 of 36 PageID #:23



authorization into the Srxis, the Brxis opens a drawer wherein the medication is

stored.

139. Generally, there are two types of drawers in a $rxis. One type of

drawer has a matrix of open-faced grate dividers separating a multitude of

different medications within the same drawer. When this type of drawer opens,

a prescriber is able to take a different medication than what was ordered by

"picking from the wrong pocket."

l4O. The other type of ftrxis drawer has individual close-faced boxes

within the drawer. When this type of drawer opens, only the lid to the box storing

the correct medication opens as well.

l4l. Every dose of medication removed from a Srxis is automatically

charged to the patient's account at the time of the medication's removal from the

$rxis.

I42. A $rxis can only hold a small percentage of the individual

medications housed in the main pharmacy.

I43. The hospital pharmacy selects the medications to be stored in each

$rxis based on factors such as the frequency of the medication's use in that

particular hospital unit and whether the medication requires special handling.

144. Every evening, generally between eight-to-ten p.ffi., a hospital

technician runs a "cart-fill list," which determines what medications are loaded

into each $rxis for the following day. When the hospital pharmacy decides to add

a medication to a particular lyxis, the technician loads the medication into the

grxis.
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145. The technician will continue to re-fill the medication in the $rxis

until the hospital pharmacy decides to remove the medication from the particular

$rxis.

Medications Placed In The P5rxis Result In Overpayments

L46. After the "fill-list" is compiled, the hospital pharmacy decides what

medications to store in the hospital's $rxis machines for the following day.

147. Occasionally, the pharmacy decides to store a medication in a Srxis

that had already been compiled on the "fiIl-list." The medication compiled for a

patient is still delivered to the patient's bin the following day, while additional

doses of the medication are loaded into the $rxis for the patient's hospital unit.

148. Once a medication is loaded into a Srxis, a nurse no longer looks to

the patient's bin for the medication. Rather, the nurse retrieves the medication

directly from the $rxis, which creates a charge on the patient's account at the

time of removal.

I49. Hence, the patient is charged for the medication's removal from the

main pharmacy after the fill-list is compiled, and charged again when a different

dose of the medication is removed from the $rxis.

150. In this situation, the patient is administered only the medication

removed from the flyxis. The medication retrieved from the main pharmacy

remains in the patient's bin, unused.

151. Eventually, the medication in the patient's bin is returned to the

main pharmacy and placed back in stock.
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152. Presence Health bills Medicare or Illinois Medicaid for these unused

returned medications, resulting in an overpayment.

153. This type of overpayment also occurs when a patient transfers from

a unit that lacks a medication in its $rxis to a unit that has that medication in

its $rxis.

154. Presence Health hospital pharmacies routinely fail to issue a credit

to patients'accounts for medications that are returned to the main pharmacy

from the patients'bin.

155. Accordingly, Presence Health fails to report and return

overpayments resulting from medications placed in the $rxis.

156. Presence Health's failure to report and return overpayments

resulting from medications placed in the $rxis results in double-billing when a

returned medication is subsequently administered to a Medicare or Illinois

Medicaid beneficiary.

Relator lflasz Attempts To Resolve Overpayments

L57. Relator Wasz attempted to resolve the foregoing overpayments with

Defendant's pharmacy management.

158. On repeated occasions, Relator Wasz explained to pharmacy

management how these overpayments were occurring, and the need to issue

credits and refunds for unused medications that were returned to the hospital

pharmacy.

159. Relator Wasz suggested a simple solution to avoiding overpayments

and double-billing. Specifically, Relator Wasz suggested that when medications
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are returned to the pharmacy, a pharmacist or technician should: (a) retrieve the

patient's hospital record; (b) examine the order history for the medications that

were returned to the pharmacy; and (c) verify that the patient was charged only

for the doses that the patient actually received.

160. On September 5,2014, Relator Wasz received an email sent by Barry

Morrison, the Pharmacy Clinical Manager at Presence Health Saint Joseph

Hospital Elgin.

161. John Donnici, the Regional Pharmacy Lead with ultimate

management authority over the pharmacies at Presence Health Saint Joseph

Hospital in Elgin and Presence Health Mercy Hospital in Aurora, was cc'd on Mr.

Morrison's email.

162. In his email to Relator Wasz, Mr. Morrison acknowledged that

overpayments were occurring as a result of Presence Health's failure to issue

credit or refunds for unused medications that were returned to the hospital

pharmacy.

163. In response to Relator Wasz's suggestion describing how to veri$r

that patients are only charged for the medications they actually received, Mr.

Morrison stated, "I don't think this is in the best interest of time for the techs or

pharmacists to have to do this."

Relator Wasz Voluntarily Discloses
Defendant's Overpayment Scheme To The
United States Government And The State Of Illinois

164. On February 1O, 2017, Relator sent a letter to the Attorneys General

of the United States and the State of Illinois.
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165. In that letter, Relator described the allegations and transactions set

forth in this complaint.

COUNT I

FEDERAL FALSE CLAIMS ACT - PRESENTATION OF FALSE CLAIMS
(31 u.s.c. S 372e(at(1t(All

L66. Relator Wasz re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 161 as if set forth

herein.

167. By virtue of the acts and omissions described above, Defendant

knowingly presented, or caused to be presented, to an officer or employee of the

United States Government false or fraudulent claims for payment or approval in

violation of 31 U.S.C. g 3729(a)(1).

168. Said false and fraudulent claims were presented with Defendant's

actual knowledge of their falsity, or with reckless disregard or deliberate

ignorance of whether or not they were false.

169. The United States relied on these false and fraudulent claims, was

ignorant of the truth regarding these claims, and would not have paid Defendant

for these false and fraudulent claims had it known the falsity of said Medicare

claims by Defendant.

I7O. The acts and omissions described above were material to approval,

audit and monitoring, and payment of said claims and other actions by the

United States.

l7l. As a direct and proximate result of the false and fraudulent claims

made by the Defendant, the United States has suffered damages and therefore

is entitled to recovery as provided by the Federal False Claims Act in an amount
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to be determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of $5,S00 to $ 1 1,O00 for each such

violation of the Federal False Claims Act.

COUNT II

TEDERAL FALSE CLNMS ACT . FALSE RECORDS AND STATEMENTS
(31 u.s.c. S 372e(al(lllBll

172. Relator Wasz re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 161 as if set forth

herein.

173. By virtue of the acts and omissions described above, Defendant

knowingly agreed to make use of, and did indeed make use of, or cause to be

made use of, false records or statements to get false or fraudulent claims paid or

approved by the Government, in violation of 31 u.s.c. g sr29(a)(1)(B).

174. Said false records and statements were presented with Defendant's

actual knowledge of their falsity, or with reckless disregard or deliberate

ignorance of whether they were false.

I75. The United States relied on these false and fraudulent records and

statements, was ignorant of the truth regarding these records and statements

and would not have paid Defendant for the fraudulent claims supported by these

false records and statements had it known the falsity of said records and

statements.

176. The acts and omissions described above were material to the

approval, audit and monitoring, and payment of the false and fraudulent claims.

177. As a direct and proximate result of the false and fraudulent claims

made by the Defendant, the United States has suffered damages and therefore

is entitled to recovery as provided by the False Claims Act in an amount to be
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determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of $5,000 to $10,000 for each such

violation of the False Claims Act.

178. The acts and omissions described above were material to contract

approvals, audit and monitoring approval, payment of said claims and other

actions by the United States.

179. The acts and omissions described above caused damages to the

United States, in substantial amounts to be determined at trial.

COUNT III

FEDERAL FALSIE CLNMS ACT. CONCEALMENT AND
AVOIDANCE OF OBLIGATIONS TO PAY MONEY TO THE GOVERNMENT

(31 u.s.c. S 372elal(U(cll

18O. Relator Wasz re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 161 as if fully set forth

herein.

181. By virtue of the acts and omissions described above, Defendant

knowingly concealed and knowingly and improperly avoided an obligation to pay

or transmit money or properff to the United States Government-specifically,

the obligation to report and return overpayments for Medicare-funded

medication.

182. Said concealment and avoidance was conducted with Defendant's

actual knowledge, or with reckless disregard or deliberate ignorance, of: (a)

Defendant's obligation to report and return Medicare overpayments; and (b)

Defendant's concealment and avoidance thereof.

183. The United States Government was ignorant of the truth of

Defendant's concealment and avoidance of Defendant's obligation to report and
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return Medicare overpayments, and would not have paid Defendant for the

fraudulent claims supported by Defendant's concealment and avoidance had it

known of Defendant's concealment and avoidance .

184. In addition, Defendant made, used, or caused to be made or used,

false records and statements material to Defendant's obligation to pay or

transmit money or property to the United States Government-specifically,

Defendant's obligation to report and return overpayments for Medicare-funded

medication.

185. Said false records and statements were presented with Defendant's

actual knowledge of their falsity, or with reckless disregard or deliberate

ignorance of whether they were false.

186. The United States Government relied on these false and fraudulent

records and statements, was ignorant of the truth regarding these records and

statements and would not have paid Defendant for the fraudulent claims

supported by these false records and statements had it known the falsity of said

records and statements.

187. The acts and omissions described above were material to the

approval, audit and monitoring, and payment of the false and fraudulent claims.

188. As a direct and proximate result of the false and fraudulent claims

made by the Defendant, the United States has suffered damages and therefore

is entitled to recovery as provided by the False Claims Act in an amount to be

determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of $5,000 to $10,000 for each such

violation of the False Claims Act.
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COUNT IV

ILLINOIS FALSE CLAIMS ACT - PRESENTATION OF FALSE CLAIMS
74O II,I,. Corup. Srer. 175/3(al(11(All

189. Relator Wasz re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 161 as if fully set forth

herein.

190. By virtue of the acts and omissions described above, Defendant

knowingly presented, or caused to be presented, to an officer or employee of the

State of Illinois false or fraudulent claims for payment or approval in violation of

74O tu-. Coup. Srer. 175/3(a)(lXA).

191. Said false and fraudulent claims were presented with Defendant's

actual knowledge of their falsity, or with reckless disregard or deliberate

ignorance of whether or not they were false.

192. The State of Illinois relied on these false and fraudulent claims, was

ignorant of the truth regarding these claims, and would not have paid Defendant

for these false and fraudulent claims had it known the falsity of said Illinois

Medicaid claims by Defendant.

193. The acts and omissions described above were material to approval,

audit and monitoring, and payment of said claims and other actions by the State

of Illinois.

I94. As a direct and proximate result of the false and fraudulent claims

made by the Defendant, the State of Illinois has suffered damages and therefore

is entitled to recovery as provided by the Illinois False Claims Act in an amount

to be determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of $5,S00 to $ 1 1,000 for each such

violation of the Illinois False Claims Act.
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COUNT V

ILLINOIS FALSE CLAIMS ACT - FALSE RECORDS AND STATEMENTS
l74O Iu. Corup. Srer. 175/3(al(lllBll

195. Relator Wasz re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 161 as if fully set forth

herein.

196. By virtue of the acts and omissions described above, Defendant

knowingly agreed to make use of, and did indeed make us of, or cause to be

made use of, false records or statements to get false or fraudulent claims paid or

approved by the State of Illinois, in violation of 74O ltt. Covrp. Srnr.

17s(3)(a)(1XB).

197. Said false records and statements were presented with Defendant's

actual knowledge of their falsity, or with reckless disregard or deliberate

ignorance of whether they were false.

198. The State of Illinois relied on these false and fraudulent records and

statements, was ignorant of the truth regarding these records and statements,

and would not have paid Defendant for the fraudulent claims supported by these

false records and statements had it known the falsity of said records and

statements.

I99. The acts and omissions described above were material to the

approval, audit, monitoring, and payment of the false and fraudulent claims.

2OA. As a direct and proximate result of the false and fraudulent claims

made by the Defendant, the State of Illinois has suffered damages and therefore

is entitled to recovery as provided by the Illinois False Claims Act in an amount
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to be determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of $5,500 to $ 1 1,O00 for each such

violation of the Illinois False Claims Act.

2OI. The acts and omissions described above were material to contract

approvals, audit and monitoring approval, payment of said claims, and other

actions by the State of Illinois.

COUNT VI

ILLINOIS FALSE CLAIMS ACT. CONCEALMENT AND
AVOIDANCE OF OBLIGATIONS TO PAY MONEY TO THE STATE

l74O Iu. Corup. Srer. 175/3(al(ll(Gll

2O2. Relator Wasz re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 161 as if fully set forth

herein.

2O3. By virtue of the acts and omissions described above, Defendant

knowingly concealed and knowingly and improperly avoided an obligation to pay

or transmit money or property to the State of Illinois-specifically, the obligation

to report and return overpayments for Illinois Medicaid-funded medication.

2O4. Said concealment and avoidance was conducted with Defendant's

actual knowledge, or with reckless disregard or deliberate ignorance, of: (a)

Defendant's obligation to report and return Illinois Medicaid overpayments; and

(b) Defendant's concealment and avoidance thereof.

2O5. The State of Illinois was ignorant of the truth of Defendant's

concealment and avoidance of Defendant's obligation to report and return Illinois

Medicaid overpayments, and would not have paid Defendant for the fraudulent

claims supported by Defendant's concealment and avoidance had it known of

Defendant's concealment and avoidance.
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206. In addition, Defendant made, used, or caused to be made or used,

false records and statements material to Defendant's obligation to pay or

transmit money or property to the State of Illinois-specifically, Defendant's

obligation to report and return overpayments for Illinois Medicaid-funded

medication.

2O7. Said false records and statements were presented with Defendant's

actual knowledge of their falsity, or with reckless disregard or deliberate

ignorance of whether they were false.

2O8. The State of lllinois relied on these false and fraudulent records and

statements, was ignorant of the truth regarding these records and statements

and would not have paid Defendant for the fraudulent claims supported by these

false records and statements had it known the falsity of said records and

statements.

2O9. The acts and omissions described above were material to the

approval, audit and monitoring, and payment of the false and fraudulent claims.

2lO. As a direct and proximate result of the false and fraudulent claims

made by the Defendant, the State of Illinois has suffered damages and therefore

is entitled to recovery as provided by the Illinois False Claims Act in an amount

to be determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of $5,S00 to $ 1 1,OOO for each such

violation of the Illinois False Claims Act.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff-Relator Hope Wasz, on behalf of herself, the United

States Government, and the State of Illinois prays that:
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This Court enter judgment against Defendant in an amount equal
to three times the amount of damages the United States
Government and the State of Illinois have sustained, plus a civil
penalty of $ 1 1,000 for each false claim made in violation of 31
U.S.C.93729 and74O lll. Comp. Stat. 17513;

The Relator be awarded the maximum amount allowed pursuant to
S3730(d) of the Federal False Claims Act and S 175/4(d) of the
Illinois False Claims Act;

3. The Relator be awarded all reasonable attorneys'fees, costs, and
expenses;

4. The Court award pre-judgment and post-judgment interest;

5. The United States, the State of Illinois, and the Relator receive all
other relief, both at law and in equity, to which they are entitled.

JI'RY DEMAND

Relator, on behalf of herself and the United States Government, demands

a jury trial on all issues so triable.

DATED: March 2I,2Ol7

Respectfully submitted,

HOPE WASZ

By:
o
and Plaintiffs

Brrrce C. Howard
bLnuard@ipnfi.com
Richard S. Wilson
rwilson@iprut.com
StpRut pc
17 North State Street
Suite 1600
Chicago, Illinois 60602
312.236.OOO0
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